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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD

MSumbMorhnagM COUNTY, FLORIDA
CASE NO. 05-1991-7249-AXXX

STATE OF FLORIDA, ~
sz B,
e B = O
. Plaintiff, | j;j;xég = 2
BRE o
MARK DEAN SCHWAB, 30« ;:T_']
==Tacl ¥ B
- .
Defendant. — f:?ﬂ_o_, Lo; 7

W

/

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT’S SUCCESSIVE MOTION TO VACATE
OR STAY EXECUTION

This matter came before the Court upon the Defendant’s Successive Motion to

Vacate Sentence or Stay Execution, filed late in the afternoon on Friday, November 9,

2007. Monday, November 12 was a legal holiday, Veteran’s Day. The Court held a

hearing at the first possible time on the Motion on Tuesday, November 13, 2007. In
attendance were Peter Cannon and Daphne Gaylord, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel
for the Defendant, Ken Nunnelley and Barbara Davis, Office of the Attorney General and
Wayne Holmes, Office of the State Attorney.

The Court recognizes that the death penalty is a unique sanction in the law and
must be approached with great deliberation. Each crime, each victim and each defendant
are unique as well, and the Court must take into account all of the legal standards that
must be met before the State has established that the death penalty is appropriate. The
Defendant in this case has had many opportunities over many years to present his

arguments to this and to other courts as to why he should not be executed. He was
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convicted and sentenced to death in 1992; the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the
conviction and sentence. Schwab v. State, 636 So.2d 3 (Fla.1994). He unsuccessfully
sought postconviction relief, both before this Court, the Florida Supreme Court and
before the federal courts. See Schwab v. State, 814 So0.2d 402 (Fla.2002) (affirming
circuit court's denial of motion for postconviction relief and denying petition for writ of
habeas corpus); Schwab v. Crosby, 451 F.3d 1308 (11th Cir.2006) (affirming trial court's
denial of federal habeas corpus relief), cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 127 S.Ct. 1126, 166
L.Ed.2d 897 (2007). On November 1, 2007, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed this
Court’s denial of the' Defendant’s August 2007 Motion to Vacate. Schwab v. State, ---
So0.2d ----, 2007 WL 3196523 (Fla. 2007). With the Defendant’s execution scheduled for
November 15, 2007, he has filed another Motion to Vacate. The Court has carefully
considered the merits of the Motion and the arguments of counsel and makes the

following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

PROCEDURAL BAR TO CLAIM ONE

In order to succeed on a successive motion for post conviction relief, a defendant
must first establish that the evidence he brings before the court is newly discovered.
There are two requirements that must be met in order to set aside a sentence because of
newly discovered evidence. First, the asserted facts ‘must have been unknown by the trial
court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or
his counsel could not héve known them by the use of diligence.’ Scott v. Dugger, 604
So0.2d 465, 468 (F1a.1992) (quoting Hallman v. State, 371 So.2d 482, 485 (Fla.1979),
abrogated on other grounds by Jones v. State, 591 So0.2d 911, 915 (F1a.1991)). Second,

‘the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an



. | 2

State v. Schwab Case No. 05-1991-CF- 7249—AXXX

acquittal on retrial.” Scott, 604 So0.2d at 468 (quoting Jones v. State, 591 So0.2d 911, 915
(F1a.1991)). This ‘standard is also applicable where the issue is whether a life or death
sentence should have been imposed.’ Id. (citing Jones, 591 So.2d at 915). “ Miller v.
State, 926 So0.2d 1243, 1258 (Fla. 2006).

The Defendant now alleges that the new psychological evaluation by Dr. Samek,
the State’s expert witness at trial is such newly discovered evidence. The Court
disagrees. While the evaluation and report itself were only generated in the last several
weeks, the underlying information and the persons necessary to produce this report are
not “new.” Dr. Samek testified at the penalty phase of the trial in 1992. The Defendant
offers no reason as to why he could not have allowed Dr. Samek to evaluate him at that
time. Certainly, by the time of the first post-conviction motion in 1995, the Defendant
could have contacted Dr. Samek concerning his diagnosis. The Defendant was given the
opportunity during the initial post-conviction evidentiary hearing to present mental health
evidence. He did not present Dr. Samek at that time and provides no reason for delaying
until weeks before his scheduled execution.

Additionally, Dr. Samek’s report cites to no newly discovered evidence. He lists
the evidence which was available to him at the time of trial. He then lists as “newly
discovered evidence” the decisions issued by the courts in this matter, which are not
“evidence,” and lists the neurological exam previously rejected by this Court and the
Florida Supreme Court as not decisive. He then lists the persons to whom he most
recently spoke in making his new evaluation, namely, the Defendant, his father and
stepmother, and Duncan Bowen, a sexual offender treatment provider. The Defendant

fails to allege that any of these persons were unknown to him at the time of trial or were
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not available. Obviously, the Defendant was available for examination. Duncan Bowan
was the counselor from whom the Defendant was receiving sexual offender treatment at
the time of the murder (See Exhibit A, Judgment and Sentence, July 1, 1992, p. 23 ). The
Defendant’s father, Paul Schwab, testified for the Defendant during the penalty phase at
trial. The Court has no knowledge of where the stepmother was at that time, but the
Defendant offers no reason why these two persons could not have been interviewd by Dr.
Samek at some much earlier point in these proceedings. Claim One does not present
newly discovered evidence that could not have been discovered earlier through the
exercise of due diligence.

IMPACT OF THE NEW EVIDENCE

Even assuming that the Court accepts the report of Dr. Samek as newly
discovered evidence, it finds that the evaluation does not rise to the level required by
Jones, Id., namely that it be of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal
upon retrial. Jones advises the trial court to consider the materiality and relevance of the
evidence and any inconsistencies in the;newly discovered evidence in making a
determination as to whether the new evidence would have impacted the trial court’s
decision. Dr. Samek’s new evaluation might be considered relevant in evaluating two
statutory mitigators, namely whether the Defendant was under extreme emotional
distress at the time of the crime and whether the Defendant was able to conform his
conduct to the requirements of the law. The Court now looks at the likelihood of whether,
had Dr. Samek’s recent evaluation been available to the Court at the time of trial, the
evaluation would probably have changed the outcome of the penalty phase and would

have resulted in a sentence of life imprisonment rather than death.
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EXTREME EMOTIONAL DISTRESS AT THE TIME OF THE CRIME

In his new report, Dr. Samek now asserts that he believes Mr. Schwab was acting
under emotional distress. The Court has re-read the trial testimony of Dr. Samek and
found that he never gave an opinion on this issue at trial. The issue of impulsiveness was
discussed at length, but Dr. Samek was not asked and did not offer an opinion as to
whether Mr. Schwab was acting under emotional distress. It is clear from Judge
Richardson’s order that the Court did not rely on anything Dr. Samek said in regard to
this mitigator in making its finding that the mitigator was not established by the greater
weight of the evidence. Judge Richardson cited the testimony of the Defendant’s mother,
who described her son’s mental state on the morning of the murder. According to Judge
Richardson, the mother testified she did not notice anything unusual about her son and
that, in fact, he was a bit more relaxed than he had been because he did not think his
probation would be violated.(A, pp. 8-9)

Judge Richardson also based his conclusion about Mr. Schwab’s mental state on
his own review of hoﬁrs of taped conversations the Defendant had with various law
enforcement personnel before and after his arrest. Judge Richardson found that there was
no indication in these tapes that the Defendant was under the influence of any mental or
emotional distress (A, pp. 8-9). The Court wonders whether Dr. Samek should now be
allowed to offer an opinion on a question he was never asked at trial and a question on
which the Judge Richardson did not use expert testimony to answer, instead relying on
the testimony of a lay witness who knew the Defendant very well, and upon his own

impressions of the evidence. The Court cannot say that this new opinion as to the
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Defendant’s emotional distress would probably have changed Judge Richardson’s mind

on this mitigator.

DEFENDANT’S ABILITY TO CONFORM HIS CONDUCT TO
THE REQUIREMENTS OF LAW

In determining whether the Defendant had the ability to conform his behavior to
the requirements of law, Judge Richardson had the opinions of the defense experts and
Dr. Samek to consider. At trial, Dr. Samek discussed the issue of whether Mr. Schwab
was acting under an irresistible impulse. Interestingly, he noted,

The issue of irresistible impulse is one that is very complicated and one that in my

opinion that psychology has never really gotten a good handle on. When does a

desire become an impulse? When does an impulse become irresistible? I think

that’s really not so much a psychological determination as a personal

philosophical judgment.
He went on to testify that “if there is sufficient motivation to stop. . . most people’s
irresistible impulses can be resisted.” (Exhibit B, trial testimony pp. 411-12). In his new
evaluation, he does not specifically use the term, “irresistible impulse,” and does not
conclude that Mr. Schwab could not have conformed his conduct. Instead, he concludes
only that Mr. Schwab’s ability to conform his conduct was “substantially impaired.”
Significantly, this is exactly what Judge Richardson concluded. Judge Richardson found
that “the greater weight of the evidence does support the conclusion that the defendant’s
ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired.”
(emphasis added). The Court also admitted that “whether the Defendant was ‘unable’ or
‘unwilling’ to conform his conduct to the law is open for debate.” (A, p. 24). Thus, Dr.

Samek’s “new” opinion would not have impacted the Court’s conclusion as to this

mitigator. The Court found that this mitigator did exist (A, p. 14).

159
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The significant change in Dr. Samek’s opinion is his diagnosis as to Mr.

Schwab’s mental disorder. At trial, Dr. Samek testified that he did not need to personally
examine Mr. Schwab to make a diagnosis. He stated that it was not uncommon for him
to make a diagnosis based on records provided to him, rather than on a face-to-face
interview. (B, pp. 388-89, 434). He diagnosed Mr. Schwab as having an antisocial
personality disorder, rape/murderer and mentally disordered sex offender (B, p. 397). He
now recants, stating that, while he still diagnoses Mr. Schwab as a mentally disordered
sex offender (MDSO), Mr. Schwab is more accurately diagnosed as a MDSO, Rape and
Humiliation of Teenage Boys. He states the closest DSM-IV TR diagnosis would be
Paraphilia, Sexual Sadism Type. Although Judge Richardson specifically adopted Dr.
Samek’s antisocial personality disorder diagnosis, (A, p. 10), the Court does not find that
a change in diagnosis from antisocial to one including rape and sadism would probably
have changed Judge Richardson’s mind.

Dr. Samek stresses in his report that he now believes Mr. Schwab’s assertions that
he was raped and abused as a child. At trial, he did not testify that he did not believe the
Defendant. Although he raised a question about the rape, he went on to factor the rape, as
well as the alleged family violence, humiliation and abuse into his discussion of the
Defendant’s psychology. He told the Court that such events would be highly traumatic
but that these events did not necessarily rise to a level of harm that inevitably led to the
Defendant becoming a rapist and murderer (B, pp. 430, 432-33). Although interviewing
the Defendant may have given him more information concerning the alleged rape and
abuse, he had knowledge of these issues at the time of his original diagnosis and

apparently took them into account in making his original diagnosis.
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Judge Richardson only discussed the antisocial diagnosis in the context of one
statutory mitigator namely, the issue of whether Mr. Schwab had the ability to conform
his conduct to law. As noted above, Judge Richardson found that this mitigator did exist,
so the change in diagnosis is essentially irrelevant. The Court also notes that Dr. Samek
does not opine in his new evaluation that the Defendant could not have resisted his
impulses or conformed his conduct, but only that his ability to do so was impaired.

Even were the Court now to conclude that the trial court might have found the
existence of the statutory mitigator of emotional distress and given greater weight to the
mitigator of the defendant’s inability to conform his conduct, the Court still does not find
that these two mitigators would have outweighed the aggravators found by the trial court.
Judge Richardson wrote that any one of the three statutory aggravators (prior violent
crime, murder committed during sexual battery/kidnapping, and heinous, atrocious and
cruel murder) outweighed all mitigating circumstances.

Even where a court found that the mitigators of emotional distress and inability to
conform were entitled to moderate weight and considerable weight, respectively, the
death penalty was affirmed because of the violent nature of the crime. See Troy v. State
948 So.2d 635 (Fla. 2006):

Upon review, we conclude that the circumstances of this case are similar to other

cases in which this Court has upheld the death penalty. See Butler, 842 So.2d at

833 (holding the death sentence proportional for the first-degree murder

conviction where only the HAC aggravator was found); Singleton v. State, 783

So.2d 970, 979 (Fla.2001) (holding the death sentence proportional for the first-

degree murder conviction where the aggravators included prior violent felony

conviction and HAC); Johnston, 863 So.2d at 278 (holding death sentence
proportional for first-degree murder conviction where the court found two
aggravating factors, one statutory mitigator, and twenty-six nonstatutory

mitigators). Comparing the circumstances in this action to the cases cited above
and other capital cases, we conclude that death is proportionate in this action.




State v. Schwab Case No. 05-1991-CF-7249-AXXX 0@

Thus, the Court concludes that even if the new evaluation of Dr. Samek were
taken into account, this “newly discovered evidence” would not have sufficiently
established that any of the alleged mitigating factors would have required the court to
refrain from imposition of the death penalty. Prong one of the Jones test was not met, as
the evidence was not truly newly discovered. Prong two of the test, requiring that the
evidence would likely change the outcome and resulted in a life sentence was also not
met. Relief on Claim One is denied.

CLAIM TWO: INADEQUATE TRAINING OF DOC EXECUTION TEAM

The Defendant has once again raised his claim that the Department of Corrections
is not yet ready to carry out lethal injections without the likelihood of error. He claims
that his documentation establishes at least a 40% error rate during training sessions,
demonstrating that a botched execution is all too likely. As noted in Jones, Id., the Eighth
Amendment does not compel the State to ensure that no suffering is involved in the
extinguishment of life or even that the State guarantee an execution will proceed as
planned every single time without any human error. As the Court stated in Buernoano v.
State, 565 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 1990), following a botched electrocution, “one malfunction is
not sufficient to justify a judicial inquiry into the Department of Corrections’
competence.” In passing, the Court notes that the “affidavit” from the quality control
expert, Ms. Janine Arvizu, does not meet the statutory definition of an affidavit. Ms.
Arvizu does not swear that the information is true as required by s. 92.525, Fla. Stat. but
only that upon her information and belief, it is true. Ignoring the legal defect of the
affidavit, the Court does not find it provides newly discovered evidence requiring a stay

or vacation of the death sentence.
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The Florida Supreme Court dealt extensively with the issue of DOC training in its
recent opinion, Lightbourne v. McCollum, No. SC06-2391, November 1, 2007. As found
by the Supreme Court, the Department’s hewest protocol requires that medically
qualified team members will be responsible for the execution. A pharmacist is given the
responsibility to mix the chemicals to be injected. The licensing and credentials of all
these persons will be verified by the Department of Health and a back-up person is
trained to step into the designated role in the event of any unforeseen contingencies. (slip
op., pp- 46-47). The Court concluded that “while the lethal injection procedures do no
spell out in exact detail what training each team member must have, they do provide
significant guidance and clearly require that the medically qualified personnel . .. have
adequate certification and training for their respective positions.” (slip op., p. 52). The
Court went on to state that the Court’s role “is not to micromanage the executive branch
in fulfilling its own duties relating to executions. We will not second-guess the DOC’s
personnel decisions, so long as lethal injection protocol reasonably states, as it does here,
relevant qualifications for those individuals who are chosen .” (Id.).

The training notes submitted by the Defendant relate to training under the prior
protocol, as they relate to July 2007 sessions. They are therefore not directly relevant to
the current procedures adopted in August 2007. The new protocol requires that a
licensed pharmacist mix the necessary chemicals. The Court sees no reason to assume
that such a highly educated and professionally trained individual will not be able to
perform this task correctly. The Court reiterates its adherence to the to the principle that
the Department is entrusted with developing adequate protocol, revising as necessary to

meet evolving societal concerns and that the mere possibility of human error in the

10
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process of execution does not render the current protocol or the training of personnel to

carry them out inadequate.

THEREFORE it is ORDERED and ADJUDGED
The Defendant’s Successive Motion to Vacate Sentence or Stay Execution is
DENIED.

The Clerk of the Court shall immediately transport the record of these proceedings
to the Supreme Court of Florida. No Notice of Appeal shall be required.

/\})ON AND ORDERED in Titusville, Brevard Co , Floridg this / 3 day of
T W

CHARLES M. HOLCOMB
Circuit Court Judge

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true copy of the foregoing was provided by facsimile to Peter
Cannon and Daphne Gaylord, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel, Middle District, 3801
Corplex Drive, Suite 210, Tampa, FL 33619, fax (813) 740-3554, Wayne Holmes,
Assistant State Attorney, fax (321) 617-7542, Ken Nunnelley and Barbara Davis, Office
of the Attorney General, 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Fifth Floor, Daytona Beach, FL 32118-
3951, fax (386) 226-0457 this /3 day of Awenbed) 2007.

TNagse W gernl
Marcia Newell

Judicial Assistant
Eighteenth Judicial Circuit
Titusville Courthouse

506 S. Palm Ave.
Titusville, FL 32796
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IN THE CIROUIT COURT OF TRE
BIGRTEENTR JUDICIAL CIRQUIT
IN AND FOR BREVARD COD¥TY,

FLORIDA,
STATE OF FLORIDA _ CASE NO. 91=-7249-CPA
Ve RLED IN
XARK DEAW SCHWAB tie—d___bay
R
Defendant ,cmc‘&
A r; .
", B,
JUDGHENT AND BENTENCER
The defendant, Mark Dean séhwab, is before the Ccourt for
sentencing.

On May 22, 1992, after hearing the evidence presaented, this
Court sitting as 'the trier of fact returned a verdict of guilty on
the charges of COUNY I:; FIRST DEGREE MURDER FROM A PREMEDITATED
DESIGN, (section 782,04(1)(a) (1), Florida Statutes) COUNT II3
SEXUAL BATTERY UPON A CHILD, (section 794.011(2), Florida Statutes)
and . COUNT TIX: XIDNAPPING CHILD UNDER THIRTEEN, (sections
787.01(1) (a) (2) and 787.01(3) (a) (2) , Florida Statutes). On May 23,
1992, thils Court, as the trier of fact, heard aevidance on the
penalty phase of this proceeding. A partial presentence
investigation report was prepared by Probation and Parole sarvices,

The Court considered the testimony and evidence introduced at
trial and at the penalty phasé of these proceedings. The Court
also has considered the arqumente made at the sentencing hearing,
and the elements of aggravation and mitigation, which are set forth
in Bections 921.241(5) and (6), Plorida Statutes as vell as

nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. Having done @o the Court

1
8 AETUR
. DEPA ;‘TSN CRIMINAL Law'Y
‘ BK321376281 4 R.O. WINSTEA .
1 CLERK of CIRGUtTCOUa'r
o Exhibit "A"
‘-‘Xf% '\3
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‘makes the following findingsi

AGGRAVATING CIRCUNDTANCES
ILORIRA BTATUTRS 923.142(5)

(A) WHETHBR THE MOURDER WAS COMMITFED BY A
PERSON UNDER AENTENCE OF INPRYSONMENT.

This aggravating circumstance was not present in this case.
The state did not request that the Court consider this issue.
(B) THE DEFERDANT WAS PREVIOQUBLY CONVICTED OF
ANOTHRER OCAPITAL  FELONY OR A FELONY
INVOLVING THE UBY OF THEREAT OF VIOLENCE
TO THB PERBON,

This aggravating circumstance has been proven. bsyond all
reasonable doubt. The state introduced a certified copy of the
Judgment and Sentence in Case No. 87-3147-CP-A, together with the
testimony of the victim, Than Meyar, This evidence showed that the
defendant committed two acts of sexual battery against Than Meyer
and that a knife was used in the commission of these crimes,

The defendant has stipulated <that this aggravating
circumstance has been proven baycnd a reasonable doubt.

(C) WHETKER THE DEFANDART IKNOWINGLY
CREATED A GREAT RIBK OF DEATE TO
NANY FERSONS,
This aggravating circumstance was not present in this cawse,
The state did not request that the Court consider this issue.
(D) WHETHER THE MNURDER WAS COMMITTED '
WRILE TEE DEFENDANT WAS ENGAGED IX
THE COMMIGSION OF, OR AN ATTEMPT TO
COMMIT, OR FLIGHY AFTER COMMITTING,
OR ATTEXPYING TO COMMIT ANY BEXUAL
BATTERY OR KIDMNARPING.

This aggravating circumstance has besn proven beyond all

2 AETURN TO: CRIMINAL LAW
RC. , JR.
BX3213°02815 CLERK OF CIROUIT COURT

-
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. ~ reasonabls doubt, The defendant has been Zfound q;zilt:y of
i kidnapping a child under thirteen and of sexual battery on a child

P.15/39

. under the age of twelve, The kidnapping charge is a life felony.
B Section 787.01(3)(a), Florida Statutes, Section 794.011{Q),
Florida statutes aestablishes that sexual battery upon a child under
twelve i a capital felony mandating a life sentence with no chance
of releass for twenty-five years. '

The defendant has stipulated that the aggravating circumstance
was proven, based upon the Court's verdicts.

1 . (B) WHBTHENR THE NURDER WAS COMMITTBD FOR THR
: PURPOEN OF AVOIDING OR PREVENTING A
LAWFUL ARREST OR AYFBECTING AN ESCAPE TROM
B CUBTODY.
This aggravating circumstance wag not proven beyond all
‘o : reasonable doubt. 1In order to suamtain its burden of proof, the
state was reguived to prove that the cnly or dominant motive for
Xilling was to eliminate 2 witness and avold arrest.

Any aggravating clroumstance may be proven through diract or
circumstantial evidence., Xf circumstantial evidence ia relied upon
by the state, that evidence must be Jinconsistent with any
reasonable hypothesges which negates the aggravating factor. Eutsy
v, Stata, 450 Bo.2d4 735, 738 (¥la.l984). The mere fact that the
' victim knew and could identify the defendant, without more, ia
legally insufficient to prove this aggravating factor beyond a.
reasonable doubt. geralds v. ptate, 17 Fia.L.¥W.268 (Pla.April 30,
1992).

In the inatant case, the clrcumstantial evidence presented was
legally insufficient to negats other reasonable hypothesea why

3 HETURN 10
DEPARTIER S UMINAL Lapy
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Junny Rios Martinez was killed.

() TEE CAPITAL FELONY WAY CONNITTED FOR
PRCUNIARY GAIM.

This aggravating circumstance has not been proven beyend a
reasonable doubt. The etate has not reguested that the Court

consider this imsue.

(G) THE CAPITAL YELONY WAS COMMITTED TO
DISRUPY O©OR HINDER TEE LAWFOL
BXERCIGR or ANY GOVERNMENTAL
LUS:'!IONH OR 7THE ENFORCEMENT OF

This aggravating circumetance has not been proven beyond a
reasonable doubt, The state has not requested that the Court

consider this issue.

(5) WERTHER THE NURDER WAS ESPECIALLY
BEEINOUE, ATROOIOUS OR CRURL.,

This aggravating circumstance has been proven bayond all
reasonable doubt,

The murder of Junny Rios Martinez was accompanied by such
additional acts of the defendant that set this crime apart from the
norm of capital felonies, so that it can be said that this was a
conscienceless and pitiless crime which was unnecessarily torturous
to the victim. gtate v. Dixon, 203 80.24 1 (Fla.1983).

This Court has accepted the expert cpinion of the medical
exaniner that the homicide of Junny Rics Martinez was the result of
strangulation or suffocation, Further, ths medical “examiner
concluded that .tt.: would take approximately thirty seconds to lose
conscjousneas once the strangulation or suffocation act began.

Clearly, thils type of death is not instantaneous. The victim has

AETURN TO: CRIMINAL LAW
DEPARTMENT

R.C, WINSTEAD, JR.

CLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT

4
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tima to experience a foreknowledge of death as well as severe
anxiety and fear. Capshart v. 8sats, 383 B0.28 1009 (Fim.1991);
Tompkines v. ftate, 502 B0.24 415, 421 (Fla.l986). In Boghor V.
Rlorida U.8., 112 B,Ct,2114, L.84.24 (Juns 8, 1992), the United
States Supreme Court acknowledged that the Florida State Supreuze
Court has consistently held that heinousness is properly found if
tha defendant gtrangles a conscious victinm,

In the instant case, the evidence shows beyond all reasonable
doubt that this child was conscious during the entire ordeal
leading up to his death.

The defendant concocted a defense of duress. He contended
that a man named "Donald" forced him to kidnap Junny Rios Martinez
and rape him. The defendant stated that Donald ordered him out of
the motel and while he was away, strangled the child with an
electric razor cord, This Court has rejected this defense.
Specifically, this Couxt has found that "Donald” doet not exist in
this case, and that the defendant was the sole perpetrator of the
crimes charged.

Notwithstanding the "Donald" duress defense, much of the
defendant's story as to how the orimes occurred is supported by
indicia of reliability. This is true because the defendant assumed
that law enforcement would find certain pieces of physical evidence
at the scene of the crime; such as, fingerprints, footprints and

body fluid samples, The defendant knew that his story must account

‘for what he believed the physiocal evidence vould show. Thus, truth

can be found in the fiction of the "Donald" defense.

5 AETURN TO: GRIMINAL
DEPARTMENT LAW
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Junny Rios Martinez left Stradlsy ballfield with the defendant
.thinking he was with a trusted friend. The defendant drove the

vioctim in a rented U-haul truck to his motel room. Once inside the

roon the dafendant physically overcame the c¢hild and bound his

- N ay 3Tl

y hands with duct taps and placed the tape over his mouth., The
defendant then violently cut the child's clothes off with a knitfe,
‘rendering him naked and terrified. At the time, Junny Rlios
‘Martinez was five feet tall and welghed approximately 76 pounds.
He was eleven years old. During this crime scenario, the defendant

i punched the child tv.lice in the stomach. His head was covered for

B

part of the time with a bsd sheet or mattress cover. The chilgd

- e

continued to cry and began to physically shake. He was subjected
to being raped anally by the- adult-defendant. The defendant
admitted that this rape caused the ochild pain. The rape continued
until the defendant .clinaxed.

At no time did the defendant state that this child lost

IR A e Tl Al

.consciousness, In fact the contrary is shown. The defendant said

T g

“ that the child continued to cry even with the duct tape on his
"face, By the defendant's own account, this crime sequence involved
.a significant amount of time. At some point after the rape, the
'child was elther strangled or smothered to death by the defendant,
It is impossible for this Court to contémplate another crime
i that would be more helnous, atrecious and cruel than the death of
l Junny Rios Martinez. The terror of the abduction and rape followed
by the slow death of strangulation or suffocation was extreme.
Such conduct ig in fact heinous, atrocious and cruél. Chapdler v.
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gtate, 8534 Bo.2d 701 (Fla.l%68); Eoon v. gtate, 513 Bo.2d 1253
(rla,.l1987).

(I) WHETHER THE MURDER WAS COMNITTED IN
A COLD, CALCULATED AXD. PRENEDITATED
NANNER WITHOOUT ANY PRETENBE OP NORAL
OR LEGAL JUSTIFICATION.

Thie aggravating circumstance has not been proven beyond a
reasonable doubt. A heightened form of premeditation is required
to prove this aggravating circumstance. As intexrpreted by the
Florida Supreme cCourt, this means “a degree of premeditation
axceeding that necessary to support a finding of premeditated
first-degree wmurder." capitant v. gtats, 583 80,24 1009
('rh.nn): geralds v. giate, 17 Fla.L.W.260 (rla.april 30, 1992);
qore V. gState, 17 Fla.L.W.247 (Fla. April 16, 1992), In the
instant case, the circumstantial evidence presented on this issue
vas legally insufficlent to negate other reasonzble hypotheses of
the degree of premeditation to murder.

(7) THE VICTIK OF THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS
A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICHER RNGAGED IN
THEZ PERPORMANCE OF XIS OFFICIAL
DUTIES.

This aggravating c¢ircumstance has not been proven in this
case, The astate has not reguested that the Court consider this
issue.

"(X) THR VICTIM OF THE CAPITAL PELONY Wi8

AN PELECTED OR APPOINTED PUBLIC

OFFICIAL BNGAGBD IN THBE PERFORMANCE

OF HIS® OFFICIAL DUTIES IF THE MOTIVE

FOR THE CAPITAL FELONY WAB RELATED,

IN WHOLE CR IN PART, TO THE VICTIK'S

OF¥FICIAL CAPACIYY.

This aggravating circumstance has not been proven in this
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case. The state has not requested that the Court conaider this
issue,
STATUTORY MITICGATING CIRCUNSTANCES
JLORIDA STATOIES 921,161(6)

(A) THE DEFENDANT EAS NO BXYGNIFICANT HIBTORY
OF PRIOR CRININAL ACTIVITY,

This mitigating circumstance has not been reasonably
established by the greater weight of the evidance. The defendant
haa been previcusly convicted of two counts of sexual battery upoﬁ
Than Meyer in case No., B7-3147~CPA. These were crimes of violence
in that th'e defendant used a knife to force himself on the victim.
Such criminal conduct constitutes a ailgnificant history,

(B) THE CAPITAL FBLONY WAS COMMNITTED WRYLA
THE DEFENDANT WAB UNDER TEHE

INFLUEZNCE OF FEITREME NENTAL OR
EMOTIONAL DISTURDANCE.,

P.20-39

Thie mitigating circumstance has not Leen reasonably /‘/ P

established by the greater weight of the avidence.

The facts show that the defendant is a mentally disordered sex
oftender. He 1s antisocial and dangerous to male children,
However, he was not under the influence of any extreme mental or
emotional disturbance on the date of the crime. The defendant was

not psychotlc, schizophrenic or psrancid. Ha is skove averags in

-

—

his intelligence level and was in touch with reality.

His emotional state on the day of the crime was described by
his mother. Incredibly, the defendant vieited with his 'mother on
his way to kidnap Junny Riop Martinez! The defendant and his
mother had a short conversation. His mother did not notice

anything unusual akeout the defendant. In fact she indicatea that
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they both felt more relaxed baca.uue it aid not look like the
defendant's probation would be violated. The defendant told his
mother that he planned to leave the state, but that he would obtain
permission from his probation officer befors leaving town.

This Court had the opportunity of 1isten1ng to many hours of
taped ccnversations of the defendant. These conversations invelved
both pre-arrest and post-arrest situations. Notwithstanding the
fect that the defendant had to ke under stress Wwhen these
oonversations occurred, there was no-indication that the defendant
was under the influence of any mental or emotional disturbance.
The defendant was clear thinking and articulate. He was aware of
the fact that the police were looking fer him and that he was in
serious trouble. He was able to fabricate and communicate the
"Donald" defense in great detall to family and law enforcement.

Prior to the commission of the subject crimes, the defendant
attended group therapy sessions with Dr. Duhcan Bowen. No 'evidence
or testimony was preeented from Dr., Bowen supporting this
pitigating circumstance.

The facts show that the defendant was able to relate well with
people., While in prison, the defendant performed his daily taske
in a proper manner. He was able to convince the victimfs family
that he was a newepaper reporter and surf-magazine representative.
He was able to gain the confidence and trust of the victim's
family.

" This court £inds that at the time the defendant murdered Junny

Rios Martinez, he was not under the influence of extreme mental or
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emotional disturbance.

(C) THE VICTIN WAS A PARTICIPANT IN THE
:::ﬂ:g;)ﬂ"l CONDUCT OR CONBENTED TO

This mitigating circumstance does not apply. The dsfendant
has not requested that the Court consider this issue.
(D) THE DRFENDANT WAS AN ACCOMPLIOER IN
CAPITAL FELONY COMMITTED BY ANOTHER

PERGON AND EI§ 'PARTICIPATION WAS
RELATIVELY MINOR.

This mitigating cixcumstance has not been proven and does not
apply. This Court has rejected the '"Donald® defense and
epecifically finde that "Donald" does not exiet in this case,

(E) TRE DEPENDANT ACTED UNDER EXYREME DURBSSH
CR UNDER THE SBUPSTANTIAL DOMIWVATION
OF ANOTRER PERBON.

Thie mitigating circumstance does not exist in this case, The
Court has completely rejected the "DonaldY defense.

(F) THE CAPACITY OF THE DEFERDANT TO
APPRECIATE THRE CRIMINALITY OF HIS
CONDUCT OR TO CONFORK HIS CONDUCT TO
THE REQUIREMNENTS Of LAY WaS
SUBBTANTIALLY INPAIRED.

There was no evidence presented that shows the detfendant!s
ability to appreciate the criminal nature of hism conduct was
substantially impaired. In fact, the proof is all to the contrary.
After the murder, the defendant made an effort to hide the body and
flee from the State. In one taped telephone conversation with his
aunt, the defendant acknowledged that he could be facing life in
prison or the death penalty for these crimes. When he bgcame aware
of the fact that the police wera after him, he contrived the

complex "Donald made me do it" defense. These are all actions of
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a parson who knows right from wrong. While in prison, the
defendant sought entry into thae state sponsored mentally disordered

sex offender program, because he knew he had a problen. The

defendant's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct
was further established by the expert testimony,

However, the greater welght of the evidance does support the
concluasion that the defendant's ability to conform hie conduct to
the requirements of law was substantially inmpaired. Having found
this statutory mitigating circumstance to exist, it cannot be
dismissed, and must i:e given some weight. However,
the relative weight to be given 1m within the province of this
Court., Cappkell v. Btate, 577 Bo.2d 932 (¥la.19%1).

The defendant meets the criteria for a mentally disordered sex
offender, He is a person who is not insane, but who has a mental
disorder and 1s dangaerous to othars because of a propensity to
commit deviate mexual acts. The defendant enjoys sadisp which
further supports his feelings of power snd contrel over his child
victims, The use of a knife and the slow death assoclated with
strangulation or suffocation are consistent with the defendant's
sadistic disorxder.

The extent to which the defendant's ability to conform his
conduct to law i; unclear to the Court, In the i{nstant case, the
defendant showed significant restraint, He developad and nurtured
a plan to gain the trust of the victim so that he could lure him

away from his home when the time was right. Over a period of

.several weeks, the defendant continued to raelate with the viotim
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and his family. " He did not act upon impulse, xage or sexual
frenzy. The defendant p"atiently' bided his time and contrived his
plan of attack. 1In the past case involving victim Than Meyer, the
defendant followed much the same course of conduct.

This Court accepts the expert cpinion of Dr. Samek, that if
given the right stimulus, the defendant would ba able to stop a
sexual advance, even in the late stages of an attack.

The defendant i{s a predator of young male children. He
clearly knows right from wrong. The defendant is manipulative and
capable of gross distortions of truth. Thus, the information
provided by the defendant to the examining experte 1s suapect,

Dr. Samek diaghoaed the defendant as an antisoclal rapist
murderer. Thls Court accepts that diagnosis as fact and hereby
rejects other expert opinion to the contrary. Notwithstanding the
testimony of Dr. Berlin and Dr. Bernstein, the evidence indicates
that the defendant may be "unwilling" rather than "unable" to
control his desires.- The defendant may get such enjoyment out of
sadistic sex upon chlldren, thaﬁ he is willing to accaept the
consequences of his acte.

It is interasting to note that while the defendant was
planning the subject crime, he was on probation for the Than Meyer
rape. As a part of this probation, the defendant was required to
participate in a sex offender program presented by Dr. Duncan
Bowen. The defendant had in fact attended a group therapy session
a few days before the abduction of Junny Rioe Martinez. Dr. Bowen

was not called as a witness. The record is void of any proof that
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the defendant sought the help of Dr. Bowen to avoid the subject
crimes. Clearly; the defendant knew what he was mbout to do. He
had a professional sex therapist available to talk to. He chose to
keep his secret and follow through with the plan.

(@) TRE AGR OF THE DEFENDANT AT THE TINE
OF THE CRIME.

The defendant’'s age at the time of the offense was twenty-twe.
He had moved out of his nother's house in 1987 and 1ived on his own
until he was arrested in July 1987 for the sexual battexy of Than
Meyer. The defendant spsnt the next three yearp ar &0 in an adult
prison. Wnile in prison, the defendant performed the job duties of
an adult., He had no disciplinary problems in the prison system and
waa able_ to conform to the adult rules of the prison. The
defandant's post-prison association with tesnagers is consistent
with his desire to dominate or control rather than an indication of
a low level of maturity.

This mitigating circumstance haas not baan. proven by the

greater welght of the svidenca.

The defendant is allowed great latitude in presenting evidence
which he feels constltutes non-statutory mitigating circumstances.
When addressing mitigating circunstmcas,’ the trial 3judge must
expressly evaluate in its written order each wnitigating
circumatance proposed by the defendant to determine whether it ie
supported by the evidence and whether, in the case of non-statutory
factoys, it is truly of a mitigation nature. Ragers v. gtate, 511
80,24 526 (¥1a.1987); Camphell v. Btate, 577 So0.24 932 (¥is,1991).
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The resolution of factual conflicts s
Yesponsibility and duty of the trial judge.

B8o.2d 1085 (Fla.l991),

solely the
gungdy v. fitate, 574

The defendant arques that the Court shounld find the following
non-statutory mitiéating clrcumstances present in this case: 3

1) Defendant suffers from a recognized mental illnese,

The evidence and testimony presented is in conflict on this
issue. Thie cCourt has resclved the conflict by finding that the
defendant is a mentally disordered sex offender with an anti-social
personality. To the extent that this disorder may be classified as
a2 "mental illnesas" this hon-statutory mitigating circumstance has
been proven by the greater welght of the evidence.

2) Defendant compitted the felony while under a mental or
lemotional disturbance.

Except as statad above, this non~statutory nitigating
circumstance has not been proven by the greater welght of the :
evidence.

3) De!endant"s sbility to conform his oconduct to the
requirements of the law was impaired.

This non=statutory mitigating oircumstance is included in the
statutory mitigating circumstances listed in section 921.141(6),

Florida Statutes. The Court has found that this mitigating
circumstance has been proven by the greater weight of the evidence.

4) The defendant was burned severely on his legs as a small
¢hild, ' o

The defendant established by a preponderance of the evidence
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that the defendant wag accidentally burned on his legs as a child.
Thers was no evic!ence that this incident was the result of child
abuse., Any relationship of this accident to the subject crines is
speculative at hest. The Court does not consider this a mitlgating
circumstance,

5) The defendant was raped at gunpoint as a small child.

This alleged incident was related by the defendant to Dr.
Bernstein, No iﬁdepandent proof or corroboration of this alleged
incident was presented. The defendant is capable of significant
fabrication. The defendant's father, mother and brother were
totally unawares of these allegations. The defendant's school
performance and general personality showed no ill effects from the
alleged incident. Although many sex offenders were abused as
children, this is not always the case. The alleged attacker was
someone known to the defendant and others in the community. Yet no
pexrson was called to verify that the named attacker actually
resided in the defendant's community. The defendant alleged that
the mdult attacker peinted a gun at hin and forced him into a
cornfield for sex. The alleged attacker was not a member of the
defendant's famlly and yet the incldent was never related by the
defendant to anyone in Ohio, This entire incident appears to be

another effort of the defendant to fabricate a defense. A young

child who had been anally rapad at gunpoint by a known beraon in

the community would surely show physical or mental signs of injury.
This Court f£inds that this non-statutory mitigating circumstance
has not been proven by the greater weilght of the evidance,

15
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6) The defendant grew up in an unstable home environment.

This non-statutory mitigating circumstance has been proven by

the greater weight of the evidence.

7) The defendant's father beat the defendant's mether and
the defendant's attempts to intercede on his mother's behalf were
futile as his father tossed him aside and continuaed the assaults en
his mother.

This non-~statutory mitigating circumstance has net been proven
by the greater waight of the evidence. The Court has accepted tha
evidence presented in conflict with this mitigation.

8) The defendant was punishsd by his father by beating him
on his burnms.

’ This non~ptatutory mitigating circumstance has not peen proven
by the greater welght of the avidence., The Court has accepted the
gvidence presented in conflioct with this mitigation.

9) The defendant's father would punish and huniliate the
defendant by pulling down his pants and would laugh at him., The
defendant's mother was not allowed to comfort her son following
these incidents.

This non-statutory mitigating circumstance has not been proven
by the greater welght of the evidence, The Court has accepted the
evidence presented in conflict with this mitigation.

20) The defendant dressed up in his mother's ciothes, the
defendant's older brother held the defendant down, took his
picture, and would tease the defendant with the photograph.

This non-statutory mitigating circumstance has not been proven
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by the qra;at:er waight of't'h'a evidence, The Court has accepted the
evidence presented in conflict with this mitigation.

11) The defendsnt's inothar, cbseaged with the bellef that hexr
husband was cheating on her, would elther leave the defendant with
his sunt or drag the defendant with her in her afforts to catch the
defendant's father in a compromising positien. As a result of this

pattern of behavior by his mother, the defendant was exposed to

2ist fights between his mother and ancther woman at the airport,

and to having a gun pointed at him and hie mother in the middle of
the night.

This non~statutory mitigating circupstance has been proven by
the greater weight of the evidence.

12) The defendant was knocked out by hils stepfather, Bill
stiffler, and reguired wmedical attention.

The defendant proved that he was struck by hias stepfather.
However, the Court does not consider thia a mitigating
circumstance.

13) The defendant won blue ribbons as & child for his
participation in the 4-H club in showing cows and rabbits.

The defendant proved_this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence. However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circumstance.

14) The defendant finished in second place in a loc;xl school
spelling bee. '

The defendant proved thia fact by a greater weight of the

ovidence, However, the Court does not coneider this a mitigating

17
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clroumstance,

18) The defendant achieved good grades in school during the
period of time him parents were together and during the pexriod of
time he stayed with his father. -

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of tha
evidence. However, the Court dees not consider this a mitigating
circumstance.

16) The defendant was firat trumpet in the school band.

The defendant proved this .fact by a greater weight of the’
evidence. However, tha Court does not consider this a mitigating
circunatanca.

17) The defendant was youth laader at his church.

The defendant proved this fsct by a greater weight of the
evidence, However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circunstance {n this case,

168) The defendant was a hard working and trusted employee at
K-Mart. The defendant received a K-Mart achievement award.

The detendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence, Howaver, the Court does not consider this s mitigating
circunstance in this case.

19) The defendant adapted well to prison and did not recelve
any disciplinary reports, _ '

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weig!it of the
evidence. Howevét, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circumstance in this case.

20) The defendant achieved his G.E.D. during his prior prieoen
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comni tment.

The defendant proved u;is fact by a8 greater welght of the
evidence. However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circu'matance in this case,

21) The defendant put his ocomputer ekills to ume by
volunteering and being accepted by the P,R.I.D.E. program. The
defendant received several certificates of achievemant for hise hard
work while in the prison systen.

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence. Howevar, the Court dees not consider this a mitigating
circumstance in this casa.

22) The defendant hag beeh a good and loving son.

The defendant proved this fact by a graater weight of the
evidence. However, the Court does not conaider this a mitigating
circumstance in this case.

23) The defendant is loved hy hig farily and friends and has
shown hies love and concern for thaem.

The defendant proved thim fact by a greater weight of the
evidence. However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circumetance in this case.

24) The Qefendant has exhibited a love for and ability to
work with anlmals.

The defendant proved this fact by a greater waigh.t of the
evidence. However, the Court does hot consider this a mitigating
circumstance in this case.

25) The defendant counselled his friend, Bill Runyan, to
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treat Bill's mother, Patricia Xnittles with proper raespect.

The defendant proved this fact by a grester weight of the
evidenca, However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circumstance in this case,

26) The defendant counselled his younger cousin, Shirley
Muhs's son, Roger Cestille, to remain a law-abiding citizen.

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
aevidence., However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
cireumstance in this case.

27) The defendant exhibited good behavior in Court,

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence, However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circumstance in this case.

28) The defendant ig intelligent.

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence. Howeve'ar, the court does not consider thie a mitilgating
circunetanca,

29) The defendant, following Chris W¥hite's etatements
concerning the Martinez family's desire to locate the viotim, led
law enforcement officials to the body.

The facts showed that the defendant led law enforcement to the

body of Junny Rios Martinez., The defendant's motive for doing so

is unclear. However, this mitigating circumstance has been proven

by a greater weight of the avidencs.
30) The defendant does not want to be mentally 11},

This non-statutory mitigating circumstance has not been proven
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by the greater weight of the evidencs,

31) Much of the defendant's behavior exhibited signe he was
trying to be stopped prior to any harm befalling the victim.

This non-statutory nmitigating circumstanca has not been proven
by the greater veight of the evidancs,

32) The defendant in 1887 immediately confemsed to law
enforcement, The defendant, in his confession, sought help for his
mental illneas, _

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence. However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circumstance in this case.

'33) The defendant pled guilty to the 1987 charge and the
court recommended he be traated as a mentally disordered sex
offender.

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence. However, the Court does not consider this a mitigating
circumstance.

34) The deéandaht sought spiritual guldance from Reverend
Stansell, who recognized and advised the dafendant that his mental
illness required professional assistance.

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence. However, the Court does not censider thie a mitigating
circumstance in this case.

35) The defendant, while within the Department of Corrections
voluntarily applied for the NMeptally Disordered Sex Offender
Program. The defendant had to confesa his guilt, reguest help, and
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be physically, mentally and scholastically eligible to receive
treatment, Thess actions taken by the defendant indicate a true
potential for rehabilitation,

The defendant’s potential for a successful rehabilitation has
not bean proven by a greater weight of the evidence. In fact, the

contrary has been proven,

3¢) The dsfendant was acoepted for the Mentally Disordered

Sex Offender Progranm which placed him in the very small percentage '

of those prisoners interviewed.

The dafendant proved this fact by a greater waelght of the
evidence. However, the Court doas not consider this a mitigating
clrcumstance.

37) The defendant would have received intensive in-patient
treatment within the prison community, However, the program was
closed by the State due to a lack of funde and stopped admitting
new patiente six months prior to the closing.

The defendant proved this fact by a greater welght of the
evidence, However, the Court doas not consider this a mitigating
clrcumstancs.

Whether the defendant would have benefitted from the Mentally
Disordered Sex Offender Program is total speculation, .However,
what is not speculation 18 had the defendant remained in prlson for
the entire length of his sentencs, Junny Rios Nartinez 'would ba
alive today,

38) The defendant did not receive any treatment while in

prison., Aa a repult, the defendant decompensated significantly
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while in prison.

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence, However the Court does not consider this a mitigating
clrcumstance. .

39) Alternative forms of treatment are available for peraons
who puffer from the defendant's mental illness,

The defendant proved this fact by a greater weight of the
evidence. Howevar, tha Court does not coneider this a nitigating
circumstance.

4D) The daf.ondant went to Dr. Duncan Bowen's weskly sessions
as required by the termg of his probation. However, the
progressive nature of the defendant‘'s mental illness could not
be treated in this non-intensive out-patient setting,

The defendant did, in fact attend the sex offender program of
Dr. Duncan Bowen. He was required to do sc by his probation
officer. However, the defendant made no effort to gain any benefit
frem that program. At the same time he was in therapy, he was
associating with young boys and planning the abduction and rape of
Junny Rios Martiner, Had the Qefendant confided in Dr. Bowen,
action could have been taksn to prevent tragedy. This non-
statutory x;aitigatinq circumstance has not been proven by the
greater weight of tha evidence.

AUMMARY
The three statutory aggravating cirocumstances proven beyond

. every reasonable doubt are entitled to great weight by this Court.

The aggravating ocircumstances all relate te violent crimes by the
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defendant perpetuated against children. In the case of Junny Rics
Martinee, the crimes involved capital sexual battery and kidnapping
of a child eleven years of ags. The facts show that death was
caused by atrang\fla'cion or suffocation of a conscioua child.

On the other hand, the one statutory mitigating circuwstance
and the non-statutory nitigating circumstance found to exist are
entitled to littla weight,

Whether the defendant is "unable" or "unwilling” to conform
his conduct to law is open for debate.

Whethear the ﬁafendant intended to help himself or the victin's
family in leading police to the child's body is not certain.

Whether the defendant's unetable family life contributed to
his pexual deviance is also in guestion. Experts differed en
causation. Are sexual deviates made or are they born? The answer
is unclear to this Court. However, for these reasons the
mitigating circumstances have been given little weight by this
Court.

In weighing the aggravating and mitigating ciroumstances, the
court finde that any one of the three aggravating circumstances

outweighs all mitigating circumstances.

EENTENCE . .

MARK DEAN SCHWAB, having been given the opportunity to ba
heard and show legal cause why judgment and sentence should not now
be im-pc;sed and to offer mattera in mitigation, and no legal cause

having been ehown to preclude imposition of Judgment and sentencs,
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you ara hereby:

ADJUDGED guilty of the crime of Firet Degree Murder (Count I)
for the unlawful killing of Junny Riecs Martinez, perpetrated by you
from a premeditated design or intent to effact the death of Junny
Rios Martinez. It is

(1) TEEREPORE, the sentence of this Court that you shall be
put to death in the manner and means provided by law. (Section
922.10, Plorida statutes),

You are remanded instantexr and without bail to the custody of
the sheriff of Brevard County, Florida, to be delivered by him to
the custody of the Department of Corrections of the State of
Florida to be confined until final execution of thie Judgment and
SEentence pursuant to law.

MAY GOD HAVE MERCY ON YQUR SOUL.,

YQU HAVE “'IUTOHA'!IC APREAL TO TRE BUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
FJRCH THIB JUDGNMENT OF QUILT AYD THRE BENTENCE THIS COURT HAS
IMPOBED.

{(32) You are hereby adjudged guilty of the crime of Sexual
Battery (Count II) upon a child under the aga of twelve years, A
capital felony crime punishable by life in prison with no chance of
parole for a nminimum of twenty-five years.

As a result of this ocriwe, you are committed to the custody of
the Sheriff of Brevard County, Florida, to be dellvered By him to
the custody of the Department of Corrections of the State of
Florida to be confined for life with no releass for a periocd of

twventy~five yeara.
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(3) You are hareby adjudged guilty of the crime of Kidnapping
a child under the age of thirteen years, (Count TII), life felony.

As a result of this oripe, you are cormitted to the custody of

the Bheriff of Brevard County, Florida to be delivered by him to

the ocustody of the Department of Corrections of the State of
Florida to be confined for life., Such life sentence shall be
consecutive to the sentence imposed for the Bexual Battery.

IT I8 YOUR RIGHT TO APPEAL WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS FRON THE
DATE OF TEE PROCEEDINGS XELD IN THIS COURT. You are entitled to
the assistance of an attorney in preparing and £iling your appeal.
Upon a showing that you are entitled to an attorney at the expense
of the state one will be appointed for you.

DIRECTIONS TO THE CLERK OF THE COURT, SHERIFF
AND CODRT REPORTER

The Clerk of this Court shall file and record this judgment

and sentence and shall prepars four certified coples of this record
of conviction and sentence of death and the Sheriff of Brevard
County shall send one copy of this record to the Governor of the
State of Florida. (Sectlan 922.09, Florida Statutes). The
defendant is hersby remanded to the custody of the Sharift of
Brevard County, Florida, who is directed to deliver the defendant
and the second certified copy of this conviction and sentence to
the custody of the Departmant of Corrections to awalt lemuance by
the Governor of a warrant commanding the execution of this sentence
of death. (Sectién 922.09, Florida statutes).

The Clerk of the Court shall forthwith furnish the third
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certifiad copy 04.7 this judgment teo the cCourt Reporter, who is
directed as expeditiously as possible to transcribe the notes of
all proceedings in thip case and to certify the corrections of the
notea end of the transoript thereof and to file the notes and
transcript, duly certified, and two copies of such transoript with
the Clerk of this Court.

This judgment of conviction and sentence of death being
subject to automatic review (section $21.141(4), Florida Statutes),
the Clerk of this Court is hereby directed to prepare a complete
record on appeal of all parts of the entire original recard, papers
and exhibits, proceedings and evidence and two coples thereof, and
after certificatjon by the sentencing ocourt, the ClerX shall
transmit the entire original cextified record to the Clerk of the
Supreme Court of Florida for automatic review and serve one copy
thereof upon the Attorney General of the State of Florida and one
copy thereof upon counsel for the defendant on appeal. The
Clerk of this Court shall forthwith furnieh the fourth copy of this
judgment to the defendant's counsel on appeal.

The defendant having been adjudged insolvent for purpeses of
appeal, Brevard County shall pay the costs of such transcripts and
copies and the filing fae on appeal.

DONE AND ORDERED in Melbourne, Brevard County, Florida, this
/s day of July, 1992. ‘

4 WI’M
coples to: EDWARD J. HARDSON

0ffice of the State Attorney CIRCUIT JUDSE
office of the Public Attorney

27

BK3213r628L0 -
e - STATE OF FLOMUA, C1%.ATY L § R+ AlD
| HERED' CERTEY 115, o= n, 0, w0 ILvegolng 4

¢cagy of ihe ¢ LU AT |
o o T G b, h g vort s
RS
D By

P.39/39

W

PR
W ' 4

TOTAL P.39

—193—




.

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

20

21

22
23
24

25

fE VS. SC WAB, 5-23-92 Sq

388

A. Yes, I do.

As a matter of fact, to cover sone of
the shows I’ve done are "Inside Edition, "
"Geraldo," the national shows as well as a lot of
local shows.

MS. ALLAWAS: Your Honor, at this

time the State would tender Dr. Samek

as an expert in the field of sex

offender diagnosis and treatment.

THE COURf: All right. Thank

you. a

Do you have any questions of this

doctor?

MR. ONEK: Not at this time.

THE COURT: Thank You.

You may continue then.

MS. ALLAWAS: Thank you.

BY MS. ALLAWAS:

Q. Dr. Samek, were you contacted by the
State of Florida to review and evaluate
documentation in this particular case related to
Mr. Mark Dean Schwab?

A, Yes, I waé.

Q. Could you briefly explain to the Court

the materials that you did review in pursuihg that

KING REPORTING SERVICES Melbourne, FL (407) 242-8080
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evaluation?
A. Yes.

I can either go over specifically or
give you an idea of the size of it. It'’s
depositions of the primary people involved in this
case, police reports, autopsy reports, letters
that were written by the defendant. 1It’s a pretty

exhaustive supply of material all given to me by

the State.
Q. Dr. Samek, was there --
A. In addition to which I have seen the

testimony today.
Q. All right.

In the course of that evaluation, sir,
were you able to reach some opinions in the
diagnosis of Mr. Schwab and his treatment or
treatability as it relates to this particular
offense?

A, Yes, I havé.

Q. Okay. Before we get to that,
Dr. Samek, you watched and reviewed and 1listened
to the testimony or the videotaping, say, of
Dr. Berlin?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Is Dr. Berlin someone that you.afe

389
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|  trauma syndrome was accurate and I think makes

sense in terms of, if the rape did occur as Mark

1
2
3 has said -- and it may well have. It may be
4

? another self-serving story like some others that

5 he’s made up. I have no way of knowing. If it

6 occurred exactly as he said, I would expect that

7 it would be a very traumatic event in his life.

8 It being more traumatic because a weapon was

9 used. It was done by someone that he knew and
10 presumably trusted, that it was violent and
11 physically painful, that there were threats on his
12 family or parts of it that make it significantly a

. 13 traumatic event.
14 On the other side, things that make it
15 a less serious traumatic event is that it occurred
16 ocnly on one occasion. i think though that one
17 needs to be aware that most people who are
18 traumatized by that trauma rape or even
19 considerably more traumatic rape --
20 I mean I’m working with a woman now who
21 was raped, and during the rape the4guy put the gun
22 in her mouth and said, I’'m going to kill you now,
23 and pulled the trigger. The gun misfired. He did
24 it again. It misfired. ' He couldn’t get the gun
25 to work so she’s still alive, but most rapé
®
| KING REPORTING SERVICES Melbourne, FL (407) 242-8080
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“Victims who are -- most rape victims are severely
traumatized by being rape. Most of them do not
pecome rapists and do not become nurderers.

Q. Have you, in fact, Dr. Samek, worked
with sex offenders, rapists, who have murdered?

A, Yes, 1 have.

Q. And viewing that in terms of what
Dr. Bernstein had termed the irresistible impulse
that Mark is feeling at, I believe he said, the
fantasy rehearsal stage, could you comment on that
assessment by Dr. Bernstein?

A. Yes. The issue of irresistible impulse
is one that is very complicated and one that in my
opinion that psychology has never really gotten a
good handle on. When‘does a desire becomé an
impulse? When does an impulse become
irresistible? I think that’s really not so much a
psychological determination as a personal
philosophical value judgment.

I suspect if Mark should be involved in
one of these irresistible impulses and had
kidnapped a kid and is all ready to go and
somebody came up and knocked on the window and
said, Mark, if you stop right now =--

MR. ONEK: 1I’m going to object,

410
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sir. He’s saying it’s a pPhilosophical
value placement. He has no expertise
in philosophical values, and this
testimony isn’t relevant.
THE COURT: Overruled.
Go ahead.
THE WITNESS: And knocked on the
window and said, Mark, if you stop what
g 9 you‘re doing right now and go to the
? 10 corner and stand on your hands, 1’11
| 11 give you a million dollars, Mark
12 probably would have stopped on the spot
” 13 to get the million dollars so it’s a
14 judgment call.
15 Many times people say I couldn’t
16 stop drinking. I couldn’t stop the
17 , rape. The woman -- you know, I was in
18 bed with a woman. I was just about to
19 come. She said, "No." I couldn’t
20 | stop. |
21 Again, if there’s sufficient
22 motivation to stop -- if someone put a
23 gun to your head and said, If you
24 continue this, I’1l1l pull the trigger,
25 and you believed that, most people’s
o
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irresistible impulses can be resisted.

py MS. ALLAWAS:

Q. Dr. Samek, turning to actual treatment
ijssues, would you agree that the earlier treatment
started the better off we are?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Would you agree however, sir, that as
long as treatment is started, we are taking the

positive steps to do that?

A. I don’t understand the question.
Q. Positive steps to correct the problem.
A, Treatment is a positive thing, and I’mn

in favor of treatment. Yes,

14 ' Q. In this particular case you heard the
7 15 testimony of how Mr. Schwab was involved in a
g“ 16 treatment program after being released from
‘ 17 prison?
18 A, That’s correct.
19 Q. You heard reports of his reaction to
20 being in that treatment program?
21 A, Yes, i have.
22 Q. And my recollections is that he was
23 rejecting the treatment program, that it wasn’t

24| helping him?

25 A. Yes. I can’t find in my notes exactly

KING REPORTING SERVICES Melbourne, FL (407) 242-8080
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Q. What is that, sir?

A. Antisocial personality, rape/murderer
and mentally disordered sex offender.

Q. Do you have an opinion as to the
likelihood of success for treatment of Mark at

this time?

A, Yes, I do.
Q. What is that, sir?
A, I think it is highly unlikely that he

could be successfully rehabilitated and be safe
without a lot of contrdls around him.

Q. Could you explain to the Court briefly
and in layman’s terms what it is that you gléaned
‘from these materials and from listening to the
testimony today about Mark that makes you believe
that his treatability is unlikely?

A. There are a number of factors. One is
the speed at which he reoffended. He came out of
prison, and he was reoffending very shortly there
afterwards. Within six to eight weeks he
committed a murder, very quickly after release.

He was in MDSO treatment at the time,
and that did not have an impact on his behavior.
There was a history of multiple

offenses. It was not one-time rape, murder. He
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I think that her tendency to protect
him and rescue him and make excuses for him and to
ﬁelp him and to allow herself to be victimized by
him financially and many other ways, I think that
that part of his upbringing was also important in
developing the kind of person who thought he could
get away with things, that he could do what he
wanted, get what he wanted and get away with it,
and I think the school grade issue reflects the
fact that, while he was in ohio, while he was near
his dad, there was enough structure that he could
function all right.

It was when he could get down here, he
could drop out of high school and get away with
it. He could kind of run away, and his mother
wasn’t strong enough to set limits and enforce
theh. That’s when school behavior showed the
deterioration.

Q. Dr. Samek, in reviewing all of these
materials, including the letters that were written
by the defendant and the various police reports
and the history and listening to the testimony
today, do you have a diagnosis of Mr. Schwab at
this time?

A. Yes, I do.

421
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/  .ues we’re talking about.

155

The lack of remorse and the minimal
remorse and the maximum amount of denial that he
nhad upon arrest and after I think is very
significant in terms of the issues we’re talking
about.

I think the age at which he started to
act out initially committing serious rapes and
being in prison for it before he was twenty I
think is another concern for me and a factor that
makes me worried about him. |

Also, the fact that he’s doing these
behaviors when he suffered really what is only
mild to moderate child abuse. The rape was a
moderate intensity rape. The sexual abuse by his
father and brother was relatively mild. The
physical violence in the family was relatively
mild. As physical violence goes, this is not
severe family violence.

I don’t know if it would be helpful for
the Court for me to describe some of the other
kinds of cases I worked with but family wviolence
can get --

MR. ONEK: Object. 1It’s not

relevant, the other cases hebsaid he

KING REPORTING SERVICES Melbourne, FL (407) 242-8080
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5 cime. She didn’t hire a baby-sitter. She’d go
to work and leave the kid handcuffed to the bed,
and then when she came home and he was crying, she
would burn him with cigarette butts all over his
chest and back.
This kind of abuse goes on commonly.

The excessive spanking, the parents in the midst
of a divorce fighting and yelling and hitting each
other, that kind of behavior unfortunately goes on

10 a whole lot in this country, and I don’t think

11 that most children who'experieﬁce that level of

12 abuse end up raping and murdering people. I think
“ 13 much more is going on in terms of what’s causing

14 the problem here than the explanation of just the

15 abuse that he had.

16 Q. Doctor, what you’re saying then is that
17 the level of abuse to Mark, given that it was

18 abuse =--

19 I’'m not arguing that premise.

20 ~- the level of abuse to Mark during

21 his childhood does not rise to the level of

22 causing him to do these things, to rape and

23 eventually rape and murder other young boys?

24] A. The abuse he’s submitted -- he was

25 exposed to as a child was horrible, and there’s -
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' yould wish that on no child. It had an effect
on him, and I think it is one factor of many
factors that were contributing to this as I spoke
about, I think, his mom and her way of dealing
with this. Also, the fact that she allowed this
to continue and stayed, you know, for a
significant period of time in the environment and
didn’t immediately call HRS and call the police
and get out of there and leave the state if she
had to, do what she finally did, that that wasn’t
done more quickly, those are also contributing
factors I think of equal magnitude.

I’m saying that kids that are abused to

. the level that he was abused, most of them do not

commit the kinds of abusive acts that he has
committed.
MS. ALLAWAS: Your Honor, may I
have a minute?
Your Honor, nothing further.
THE COURT: Mr. Onek?
MR. ONEK: Céuld I have a moment,
please?
May it please the Court?
CROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR. ONEK:
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Doctor, can you spell your last nanme
S-a-m-e-Xk.
Thank you.
Doctor, you have never spoken to Mark;
correct?

A, That’s correct.

Q. Does that fact make your ability to
diagnose him more difficult in your opinion?

A. Not in this case.

Q. Do you normally make a diagnosis after
spending time with a patient?

A. Normally I do, but it is not uncommon
for me to do it by reviewing materials.

Q. Okay. How much time do you normally
spend with a patient before you arrive at a
diagnosis?

A. It depends what the purpose of the
diagnosis is. Generally the diagnosis is not the
issue at stake. Generally people don’t come to me

and say, "What'’s the diagnosis?" Generally the
diagnosis is quite evident in people I see. The
question usually is treatability or credibility
when I’m working with children, but the diagnoses

are generally commonly clearly either
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